IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DEBBIE CAUCHEAUX
SEP 82 CCO
GLERK, SUPREME COURT
Dy

BRIAN	JONES	s, and	SUZE.	ГТЕ
JONES.	his wif	fe,		

CASE #: 96,287

(2nd DCA Case #: 98-00625)

Petitioners,

VS.

ETS OF NEW ORLEANS, INC.,

Respondent(s),

PETITIONERS' BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

L. BARRY KEYPETZ, ESQUIRE and FL Bar #: 042658
KEYFETZ, ASNIS & SREBNICK, P.A. Attorneys for Petitioners
44 West Flagler Street, Suite 2400
Miami, Florida 33130
Phone: (305) 358-1740

GERALD R. HERMS, ESQUIRE FL Bar #: 104535 Co-Counsel for Petitioners 200 Pierce Street Suite 3A Tampa, Florida 33602 Phone: (813) 229-0173

CERTIFICATE OF TYPE SIZE & STYLE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is a Petition for Writ of Certiorari from an order of the Second District Court of Appeal holding the carrier only pays their prorata share of "taxable costs" in connection with the third party recovery, thereby leaving the employee bearing all of the other "expenses" also referred to as "costs of recovery".

Petitioner suffered injuries while working for Respondent and was paid workers' compensation benefits. Petitioner then sued a third party and reached a settlement for \$50,000.00. In determining Respondent's lien, the trial court deducted from the gross recovery, in addition to attorney's fees, reasonable and necessary "expenses" ("costs of recovery") incurred in securing the recovery, most of which never fall in the limited category of "taxable costs".

The District Court reversed that determination, holding the only costs that are permitted to be deducted from the gross recovery to determine the net recovery are "taxable costs", thereby leaving the employee to bear the full extent of the major reasonable necessary costs of recovery. From that decision Petitioner, Brian Jones, (Appellee below), seeks review by this Court contending said decision is in conflict with decisions of this Court and other District Courts of Appeal.

¹In fact, it is unclear when just taxable costs would ever be borne by either the employee or carrier upon a successful recovery in that "taxable costs" would always be reimbursed by the third party tort feasor.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Second District holding that the workers' compensation carrier does not pay prorata share of all of the reasonable and necessary expenses (recovery costs) in connection with a third party recovery is in conflict with this Court's decisions in Nikula v. Michigan Mutual Insurance Company, 521 So.2d 330 (Fla. 1988) and Manfredo v. Employer's Casualty Insurance Company, 560 So.2d 1162 (Fla. 1990).

The Second District holding in that respect also conflicts with multiple other District Court of Appeal decisions which have interpreted the workers' compensation carrier's obligation to include their prorata share of all reasonable and necessary "recovery costs" or expenses in connection with the third party case, to include as well, attorney's fees.

In more than forty years of determining these liens involving similar statutory language insofar as the issue herein, no other District Court has interpreted the carrier's prorata obligation to include only "taxable costs" which would leave solely to the employee responsibility for the bulk, if not all, of the recovery costs.

The holding by the Second District is directly contrary to the policy established by this Court in Nikula, reiterated by multiple other District Courts of Appeal, and thereafter codified by the legislature holding that the workers' compensation carrier receive prorata recovery from the third party to the same extent as the employee has

received same, compared to the full value of the case. That policy compels the carrier to share prorata in all reasonable and necessary recovery costs, not just taxable costs - which taxable costs, in any event, would not seem to be borne by the carrier or employee since they would be reimbursed by the third party.

The Second District Court's decision limiting the carrier's prorata obligation for only taxable costs results in a greatly disproportionate obligation by the employee and in a number of circumstances could even result in little or no recovery to the employee, but substantial recovery to the carrier. This result is contrary to this Court's holding in Nikula, Manfredo, subsequent codification thereof, the other District Court decisions discussed herein and forty years of decisions interpreting similar language contrary to the interpretation now placed thereon by the second district.

ISSUE PRESENTED

IS THE HOLDING OF THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL THAT "COSTS" EXPENDED IN THE PROSECUTION OF THE CASE, WHICH ARE DEDUCTIBLE FROM THE GROSS RECOVERY IN DETERMINING NET RECOVERY, DO NOT INCLUDE **NECESSARY** AND **PROPER** REASONABLE EXPENSES, BUT ONLY "TAXABLE" COSTS, IN CONFLICT WITH THIS COURT'S DECISION IN NIKULA v. MICHIGAN MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY, 521 So.2d 330 (FLA. 1988); THE PRORATA POLICY OF THIS COURT EXPRESSED THEREIN SUBSEQUENTLY CODIFIED BY STATUTE; AND FORTY YEARS OF CONTRARY PRECEDENTS IN THIS COURT AND THE OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL?

In connection with determination of a workers' compensation carrier's participation in the proceeds of a third party recovery, the Second District Court of Appeal has held the carrier pays their prorata share of attorney's fees and only the limited category of taxable costs, leaving to the employee to pay from his share of the proceeds the full amount of all the reasonable and necessary expenses (recovery costs) incident to making the recovery.

In Manfredo v. Employer's Casualty Insurance Company, 560 So.2d 1162 (Fla. 1990) this Court referred to Nikula v. Michigan Mutual Insurance Company, 521 So.2d 330 (Fla. 1988) holding:

Although Nikula concerned the 1981 version of the statute, in a footnote to that opinion, we stated:

The statute was amended in 1983 to take into consideration the worker's <u>expenses</u> in pursuing the third party claim. The controlling factor for settlements involving comparative negligence under the amended version is the ratio of net recovery to full damages. <u>Manfredo v. Employer's Cas. Ins. Co.</u>, supra, p.1165, (emphasis supplied).

Subsequently, the legislature codified this Court's prorata formula announced in the Nikula case, but dispensing with the need for an initial showing of comparative negligence to trigger the prorata determination. §440.39(3)(a) Florida Statutes (1991); also see City of Hollywood v. Lombardi, 24 FLW D1849 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999) at p.1850.

The Second District opinion indicates their determination is a matter of first impression. However, as noted by this Court in Manfredo and Nikula, the 1983 version and its predecessors all initially utilized terminology "court costs" and later in the statutory language provided for the carrier to pay their prorata share of "costs... incurred by the employee." Every other District Court interpreting that same language approved the carrier's obligation for their prorata share of the reasonable and necessary recovery costs (expenses) in making the recovery - not just "taxable costs". Brandt v. Phillips Petroleum Company, 511 So.2d 1070 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1987)² utilizes the

²<u>Manfredo</u> disapproved of the portion of the opinion pertaining to when the comparative negligence reduction comes into the formula, but adopts the "expenses" or "recovery costs" terminology.

terminology "recovery costs". The opinion refers with approval to Annot., Workman's Compensation; Attorney's Fee or Other Expenses of Litigation Incurred by Employee in Action Against Third Party Tort Feasor as Charge Against Employer's Distributive Share, 74 A.L.R. 3d 854 (1976).

In <u>Williams Heating and Air Conditioning Company v. Williams</u>, 551 So.2d 559 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989) the Fifth District also refers to "costs of recovery" including attorney's fees. Both opinions in allowing deduction of "costs of recovery", as distinguished from taxable costs, discuss the intent of the statute that the "employee's gross recovery is proportional to the total value of the injured employee's claim." Also see similar rationale recently expressed in <u>City of Hollywood v. Lombardi</u>, supra at p.1850.

That, of course, does not occur if the injured employee is called upon to pay all of the other reasonable and necessary "expenses" (costs of recovery) - except taxable costs.

Further, the Second District Court of Appeal is in conflict with this Court's announced policy in Nikula and Manfredo as well as conflicting with similar expressions in the other District Courts of Appeal. It is suggested this Court did not, through inadvertence or inability to utilize correct terminology, use the terminology "expenses", nor did the other District Courts act inadvertently in also using "expenses"

or "costs of recovery" rather than the terminology "taxable costs". Rather, as announced by this Court and the other District Courts of Appeal, it was intended that the carrier receive reimbursement on a prorata basis exactly proportional to what the claimant receives compared to his overall recovery. The third party suit is, in effect, a joint venture between the carrier and the employee with both intended to prorata share in all reasonable and necessary attorney's fees and all reasonable and necessary costs of the recovery.

For the foregoing reasons, it is requested this Court accept jurisdiction and resolve the existing conflict in the case law as to whether pursuant to §440.39(3)(a) the carrier pays their prorata share of recovery costs (expenses) in connection with the third party litigation or only "taxable costs"?³

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, it is submitted this Court has jurisdiction to resolve the conflict between the Second District Court of Appeal decision herein and this Court's decisions in Nikula, Manfredo, the other District Courts' decisions in Brandt, Williams Heating and Air Conditioning Company, and forty years of decisions

³Since taxable costs are, in any event, paid by the losing party, if the legislature intended that the carrier only pay their prorata share of that category of costs, as distinguished from all the reasonable and necessary costs of recovery, then it would seem to be meaningless to so provide there is nothing to prorata pay by either the carrier or claimant where taxable costs are reimbursed by the losing party.

reaching contrary interpretations as to whether the carrier pays their prorata share of recovery costs (expenses) or only taxable costs. Where substantial recovery costs are involved or contemplated, the Second District Court of Appeal decision will hinder resolution possibly compelling plaintiff to just "roll the dice". The issue is one of great importance in connection with the foregoing, and to allow consistent resolution of these lien issues. It accordingly is requested this Court exercise its jurisdiction to resolve the conflict.