### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TT.ED DEBBIE CAUSSEAUX SEP 2.9.1999 CLERK, SUPREME COURT Бу.

BRIAN JONES and SUZETTE JONES, his wife,

Petitioners,

Second DCA Case: 98-00625

 $\mathbf{VS}$ 

Supreme Court Case: 96,287

ETS OF NEW ORLEANS, INC.

## **RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION**

ROBERT A. LeVINE, ESQUIRE Newman, LeVine, Metzler & Shankman, P.A. Suite 2900, 400 N. Tampa Street Tampa, Florida 33602 (813) 221-8110 Florida Bar No. 679100

# **CERTIFICATION OF TYPE SIZE AND STYLE**

The type size of this Brief is Times New Roman 14 point.

#

#### STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

This case involves a petition to the Supreme Court of Florida for discretionary jurisdiction based upon asserted conflict between the Second District Court of Appeal's decision below, reported at 24 FLW D1172 (Fla. 2d DCA May 12, 1999), and certain appellate precedents offered by the Petitioners. This Brief addresses the jurisdictional issue only.<sup>1</sup>

Respondent, ETS of New Orleans, Inc., believes that the facts of this case are fairly recited in the Second District's decision and objects to the inclusion of opinion and argument in the Petitioners' Statement of the Case and Facts.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

None of the authorities cited by the Petitioners expressly or directly addressed the question presented to the Second District in the case at bar. Therefore, no "conflict" jurisdiction exists in the Supreme Court of Florida.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The merits issue which Petitioners wish this Court to consider is whether the term "court costs," as used in Fla. Stat. \$440.39(3)(a), includes "taxable costs" or "all costs." The Second District construed the statutory term as "taxable costs."

### **ARGUMENT**

۰.

ISSUE (restated): IS THE HOLDING OF THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN CONFLICT WITH EITHER SUPREME COURT OR DISTRICT COURT PRECEDENT?

# I. The Supreme Court Precedents Offered by Petitioners Never Addressed <u>the Issue at Bar</u>.

In their jurisdictional Brief, the Petitioners assert that the decision of the Second District Court of Appeal conflicts with this Court's decisions in <u>Nikula v</u>. <u>Michigan Mutual Insurance Company</u>, 531 So.2d 330 (Fla. 1988), and <u>Manfredo v</u>. <u>Employer's Casualty Insurance Company</u>, 560 So.2d 1162 (Fla. 1990).<sup>2</sup> However, the issue addressed by the Second District -- whether Florida Statutes §440.39 contemplates inclusion of "taxable costs," as opposed to all costs, in determining equitable distribution of workers' compensation liens -- was not addressed in either <u>Nikula</u> or <u>Manfredo</u>.

As the Second DCA identified in its opinion:

The question before us is whether, within the context of [section 440.39(3)(a)], "court costs" means "taxable costs"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> <u>See</u> Petitioners' Brief on Jurisdiction at 2, 3, 4-5, 6, 7. This case does not involve a question certified to be of great public importance, nor any other form of appellate, discretionary, or original jurisdiction.

or "all costs" incurred on behalf of the employee.<sup>3</sup>

Was this question addressed, or even raised, in Nikula or Manfredo?

<u>Nikula</u> involved a question certified by the Fourth District as one of great public importance (in short): How does a court calculate a workers' compensation lien when the injured workers' recovery is reduced by comparative negligence? 531 So.2d at 330. In answering that question, the Supreme Court held:

> under the 1981 version of the statute the carrier's lien shall be based upon the ratio of settlement amount to full value of damages.

Id. at 330-31. NOWHERE does the <u>Nikula</u> decision address what costs should be included in the lien calculation.<sup>4</sup> In fact, <u>Nikula</u> involved a different law than that at issue in this case: the 1981 version of \$440.39 did not include the provision requiring the lienor to pay its pro rata share of costs and attorney's fees. That provision was included in the 1983 amendments to the statute. <u>See Nikula</u>, 531 So.2d at 332 n.1.

Manfredo, like Nikula, involved a lien calculation but did NOT address the issue of what "costs" should be included in that calculation. In fact, the issue

<sup>3</sup> 24 FLW D1172, at D1173.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Indeed, the <u>Nikula</u> decision only includes the word "costs" one time, in the Court's recitation of the statute. 531 So.2d at 331. The dissenting opinion uses the word "costs" only three times, in each instance reciting statutory provisions without inquiry into what the term means. <u>Id</u>. at 332-33.

currently at bar was neither decided by nor presented to any court in <u>Manfredo</u> -not at trial, on appeal, or before the Supreme Court. Rather, the parties **stipulated** to the cost figures to be utilized in the calculation:

٠.

٠.,

The parties stipulated that the amount of legal fees and costs was \$409,500. The trial court then calculated ... the ratio of the stipulated fees and costs to the gross amount of the settlement.... Manfredo, 560 So.2d at 1164.<sup>5</sup>

Because there was no dispute over costs in <u>Manfredo</u>, there is **no conflict** between <u>Manfredo</u> and the case at bar, which DOES involve a cost dispute.<sup>6</sup> In fact, the <u>Manfredo</u> decision, like <u>Nikula</u> (but unlike this case), also resulted from a question certified by the District Court: Whether <u>Nikula</u> implicitly overruled <u>Brandt v. Phillips Petroleum Co.</u>, 511 So.2d 1070 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987).

# II. The District Court Decisions Offered by Petitioners Never Addressed the <u>Issue at Bar</u>.

It is curious that the Petitioners would offer <u>Brandt</u> as authority in this case.<sup>7</sup>

While it is accurate that in Brandt the Third DCA utilized the term "recovery

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The opinion further states: "The record reflects that attorney's fees were 40% of the recovery, or 360,000, and that costs were 49,500 (because Manfredo's attorney absorbed half the costs)." <u>Manfredo</u>, 560 So.2d at 1162 n.1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> In fact, the <u>Manfredo</u> decision was the result of a question certified by the District Court as one of great public importance: Did <u>Nikula</u> implicitly overrule <u>Brandt v. Phillips Petroleum Co.</u>, 511 So.2d 1070 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> <u>See</u> Petitioners' Brief on Jurisdiction at 5-6.

costs," it is futile to consider <u>Brandt</u> as persuasive because:

- 1. The <u>Brandt</u> court used "recovery costs" to refer to "attorney's fees and costs" together, not "costs" alone.
- 2. The <u>Brandt</u> decision did not define "costs" nor address whether that statutory term meant "taxable costs" or "all costs."
- 3. <u>Brandt</u> was implicitly overruled by <u>Nikula</u> and expressly disapproved by the Supreme Court in <u>Manfredo.</u><sup>8</sup>

Although one may debate whether <u>Brandt</u> retains ANY precedential value, it is indisputable that <u>Brandt</u> cannot form the basis of "conflict" jurisdiction in this case because the Third District opinion in no way conflicts with the Second District decision in the case at bar.

The Petitioners offered only <u>Brandt</u> and two other District Court decisions in support of their position. As has been demonstrated, <u>Brandt</u> did not address the distinction between "taxable costs" and "all costs." What of the other two authorities?

Williams Heating and Air Conditioning Co. v. Williams, 551 So.2d 559 (Fla.

<sup>8 &</sup>lt;u>See Manfredo</u>, 560 So.2d at 1163, 1164, 1165. Respondent also takes issue with Petitioners' assertion that <u>Manfredo</u> "adopts the 'expenses' or 'recovery costs' terminology" of <u>Brandt</u>. Upon close inspection of the Supreme Court opinion, the undersigned is unable to find any reference whatsoever to those terms in <u>Manfredo</u>.

5th DCA 1989), involved whether an employer/carrier should be entitled to any lien when a notice of lien is not filed and the plaintiff/employee does not recover the full value his damages. The Fifth District allowed the lien on two grounds: (1) all of the parties had actual notice of the carrier's lien; and (2) the carrier's right to recovery is not statutorily predicated upon full recovery by the employee from the tortfeasor. Williams did not involve any dispute over what are "court costs."<sup>9</sup>

The recent decision of <u>City of Hollywood v. Lombardi</u>, 24 FLW D1848 (Fla. 1st DCA Aug. 5, 1999), is the final authority offered by Petitioners. To be fair, the Petitioners place only weak reliance on <u>Lombardi</u>, asserting that <u>Lombardi</u> offers a "similar rationale" to that gleaned from <u>Williams</u>.<sup>10</sup> However, although the First District addressed six issues in the <u>Lombardi</u> case,<sup>11</sup> none of those issues

6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The <u>Williams</u> opinion repeatedly recites that the employee's costs of recovery (attorney's fees and costs) were \$10,388.75. Nowhere does the opinion suggest how much of that sum was attributable to costs versus fees.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> <u>See</u> Petitioners' Brief on Jurisdiction at 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> The employer/carrier presented four issues in <u>Lombardi</u>: (1) whether penalties and interest were due on late payments; (2) whether a lien reduction on future workers' compensation benefits should be applied before or after applying a 100% AWW cap; (3) whether the JCC abused discretion in denying a credit for overpayments; and (4) whether attorney's fees and costs were due. The employee/claimant presented two appellate issues: (1) whether a carrier's equitable distribution should be limited to a percentage of a percentage of the claimant's net recovery; and (2) whether the JCC erred in permitting an offset on workers' compensation (as opposed to pension) benefits.

related to the sole issue addressed by the Second District in the case at bar: whether the term "court costs" means "taxable costs" or "all costs." In fact, <u>Lombardi</u> does not address equitable distribution of a lien at all; rather, the decision involves an appeal of an concerning workers' compensation benefits entered by a Judge of Compensation Claims, not by a circuit court. 24 FLW at D1849.

In their Brief, the Petitioners assert that "Every other District Court interpreting the same language approved the carrier's obligation for their prorata share of the reasonable and necessary recovery costs (expenses) in making the recovery -- not just 'taxable costs.'<sup>112</sup> It is unknown why the Petitioners refused to address the case authority relied upon by the Second District, <u>MacArthur Farms v. Peterson</u>, 586 So.2d 1273 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991). That case held that it was error for a Judge of Compensation to construe the word "costs" as anything but its generally accepted meaning, "taxable costs." Regardless, in considering whether the Supreme Court may accept jurisdiction over this case on the basis of asserted "conflict," it is undeniable that neither <u>Brandt</u> nor <u>Williams</u> nor <u>Lombardi</u> addressed

The challenging nature of the issues presented in the <u>Lombardi</u> case is evidenced by the court's certification of TWO issues as having great public importance. 24 FLW at D1849, D1850. In the case at bar, the Second District declined to certify any question. <u>See</u> Appendix "A".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> <u>See</u> Petitioners' Brief on Jurisdiction at 5.

the issue presented to and answered by the Second District in this case.<sup>13</sup>

# III. No Conflict Jurisdiction Exists Without Express and Direct Conflict <u>Between Appellate Courts</u>.

The Petitioners final attempt is to direct this Court's attention towards a preferred policy argument, extracted from cases in which the courts did not consider what the term "court costs" means in §440.39. Perhaps such efforts might be relevant if this Court were considering the <u>merits</u> of the issue at bar. However, in a jurisdictional brief "[i]t is not appropriate to argue the merits of the substantive issues involved in the case or discuss any matters not relevant to the threshold jurisdictional issue."<sup>14</sup>

Rather, the sole jurisdictional question is whether there exists an express and direct conflict between the decision of the Second District and that of another Florida appellate court considering the same issue.

The seminal case on "conflict" jurisdiction is Jenkins v. State, 385 So.2d

٠.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Moreover, Petitioners offer no support whatsoever for their assertion that there exists "forty years of decisions interpreting similar language contrary to the interpretation now placed thereon by the second district." <u>See</u> Petitioners' Brief on Jurisdiction at 3; <u>see also</u> Petitioners' Brief at i, 2, 4, 7-8. The authorities cited by Petitioners, inapposite though they may be, at best offer only twelve (12) years of common law.

<sup>14</sup> 

Committee Notes to 1977 Amendment, Fla. R. App. P. 9.120.

1356 (Fla. 1980). In <u>Jenkins</u>, this Court held that the decisions allegedly in conflict must address the same legal issue; speculation or argument concerning dictum or dissent is an insufficient basis for jurisdiction:

The pertinent language ... leaves no room for doubt. This Court may only review a decision of a district court of appeal that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or the Supreme Court **on the same question of law.** 

\* \* \*

As stated by Judge Adkins..., "(i)t is conflict of decisions, not conflict of opinions or reasons that supplies jurisdiction for review by certiorari."

385 So.2d at 1359 (emphasis added).<sup>15</sup>

÷,

Commentary on "conflict" jurisdiction further confirms this law:

It is not enough to show that the district court decision is effectively in conflict with other appellate decisions.

P. Padovano, Florida Appellate Practice §§ 2.10 and 3.10; see also § 21.2.

In the case at bar, none of the Petitioners' case authorities "expressly and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> The Supreme Court further emphasized the requirement of "express" conflict by stressing the ordinary dictionary definitions of those terms:

The dictionary definitions of the term "express" include: "to represent in words"; "to give expression to." "Expressly" is defined: "in an express manner." Webster's Third New International Dictionary (1961 ed. unabr.). Jenkins, 385 So.2d at 1359.

directly" address whether, in §440.39, "court costs" means "taxable costs" or "all costs." Therefore, absent a certification of great public importance (a request denied by the Second District), this Court has no jurisdiction over this case because no conflict between appellate courts exists.<sup>16</sup>

÷ ,

### **CONCLUSION**

The sole issue is jurisdictional: Does the Second District's opinion conflict with existing Supreme Court or District Court precedent? Because the precedents cited by Petitioners did not address the meaning of the term "court costs" as used in Florida Statutes §440.39(3)(a), no express or direct conflict exists, and Supreme Court jurisdiction may not attach.

Respondent respectfully requests that the Court refuse jurisdiction over this cause.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Petitioners erroneously assert that "The Second District opinion indicates their determination is a matter of first impression." Petitioners' Brief on Jurisdiction at 5. Upon close inspection of the instant decision, the undersigned is unaware of any such assertion by the Second District. Regardless, if this is truly a case of first impression, then it would be logically impossible for "conflict" jurisdiction to attach.